UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

AMERICAN EXPRESS TRAVEL
RELATED SERVICES COMPANY, INC.
Plaintiff,

— against —

VISA U.S.A. INC,,
VISA INTERNATIONAL SERVICE
ASSOCIATION,

MASTERCARD INCORPORATED,
MASTERCARD INTERNATIONAL INC.,
BANK ONE, DELAWARE, N.A.,

BANK ONE CORPORATION,

CHASE MANHATTAN BANK USA, N.A.,
JPMORGAN CHASE & CO.,

FLEET BANK (RI), N.A.,

FLEET NATIONAL BANK,

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,

BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION,
CAPITAL ONE BANK,

CAPITAL ONEF.S.B.,

CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORP.,
U.S.BANK, N.A,

U.S. BANCORP,

HOUSEHOLD BANK, N.A., |
HOUSEHOLD INTERNATIONAL INC.

X

WELLS FARGO BANK (ARIZONA), N.A.,

WELLS FARGO FINANCIAL NATIONAL

" BANK,

WELLS FARGO FINANCIAL, INC.,,

WELLS FARGO & COMPANY,

PROVIDIAN FINANCIAL CORP.

PROVIDIAN NATIONAL BANK,

USAA FEDERAL SAVINGS BANK,
Defendants

X

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc., a wholly owned-

subsidiary of American Express Company (together, “American Express™), by its undersigned
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COMPLAINT AND




counsel, for this Complaint alleges, with knowledge of American Express’ own acts and acts

taking place in its presence, and upon information and belief as to all other matters, as follows:

I. SUMMARY OF THE ACTION

1. This action arises out of the same course of anticompetitive conduct held to

violate Section 1 of the Sherman Act in United States v. Visa USA, et al., 163 F. Supp. 2d 322

(S.D.N.Y. 2001), aff’d, 344 F.3d 229 (2d Cir. 2003), cert. denied, 125 S.Ct. 45 (2004). In that

case, this Couﬁ found that the Visa and MasterCard associations, together with their member
banks, implemented and enforced illegal exclusionary agreements requiring any U.S. bank that
issues Visa or MasterCard general purpose cards to refuse to issue American Express and
Discover cards. 163 F. Supp. 2d at 405-06.

2. Defendants’ antitrust violations have hanﬁed the market in which the card
networks provide authorization, clearance, and settlement services for general purpose card
payment transactions (the “general purpose card network services market” or “network services
market”), as well as the market in which credit and charge cards are issued (the “general purpose
credit and charge card market,” “general purpose card market,” or “card issuing market”).
Through “the total exclusion of American Express ... from a segment of the market for network
services,” 344 F.3d at 240, the conspiracy participants “seriously damaged” competition at the
network level, id., and have “significantly reduced product output and consumer choice in the
issuing market.” 163 F. Supp. 2d at 330. Defendants’ anticompetitive boycott of American
Express has also foreclosed American_ Express from a “huge portion” of the network services
market, 1d. at 382; restricted the output of American Express cards in the United States, id. at
329, 379, 387, restrained American Express’ transaction volume, merchant écceptance levels,

competitive vitality, and market share, id. at 329, 379, 382; and hampered American Express’
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ability to develop and market new card features and network capabilities, id. at 329. In addition,
as set forth below, Defendants’ violations have restrained competition in the markets in which
debit cards are issued and in which debit card network services are provided.

3. Accordingly, in declaring Defendants’ exclusionary rules illegal, this Court held
that the “exclusionary mlés undeniably reduce output and harm consumer welfare,” that Visa and
MasterCard had “offered no persuasive procompetitive justification for them,” that “the member
banks agreed not to compete by means of offering American Express and Discover branded
cards,” that “[sJuch an agreement constitutes an unreasonable horizontal restraint [that] cannot be
permitted,” and that “these rules constitute agreements that unreasonably restrain interstate
commerce in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act.” Id. at 405-06. The United States Court
of Appeals for the Second Circuit unanimously affirmed. See 344 F.3d at 238-44.

4. This case involves the same collusive conduct and exclusionary rules, committed
by the same actors, motivated by the same anticompetitive purposes, and resulting in the same
mjuries.

5. Visa and MasterCard are owned and operated by approximately 20,000 banks and
other financial institutions, 344 F.3d at 242, many of which are members of both associations.
163 F.Supp. 2d at 346-47. As this Court found, the member banks were instrumental in adopting
and carrying out the unlawful exclusionary agreements: the exclusionary rules were “restrictions
of, by and for the member banks,” 163 F. Supp. 2d at 400 (emphasis added); “there is substantial
evidence that by adopting and enforcing the exclusionary rules, the member banks agreed not to
compete by means of offering American Express and Discover branded cards,” id. at 405
(emphasis added); the MasterCard banks adopted the same exclusionary rule as Visa’s in order

“to avoid loss of market share by the two networks that the members own,” 1d. at 401 (emphasis



added); and the “motives” of the conspiring banks in the Visa and MasterCard associations were
“to restrict competition at the network and issuer levels fo enhance member bank profitability.”
Id. (emphasis added).

6. In affirming this Court’s “comprehensive and careful opinion,” 344 F.3d at 234,
the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit underscored the crucial role played by
the member banks in agreeing to, and abiding by, the Visa and MasterCard versions of the
exclusionary rules: “Visa U.S.A. and MasterCard, however, are not single entities; they are
consortiums of competitors. They are owned and effectively operated by some 20,000 banks,
which compete with one another in the issuance of payment cards and the acquiring of
merchants’ transactions. These 20,000 banks set the policies of Visa U.S.A. and MasterCard.
These competitors have agreed to abide by a restrictive exclusivity provision to the effect that in
order té share the beneﬁi‘s of their association by having the right to issue Visa or MasterCard
cards, they must agree not to compete by issuing cards of Amex or Discover. The restrictive
provision is a horizontal restraint adopted by 20,000 competitors.” 1d. at 242 (emphasis added).
Thus, “the restraint imposed by the consortium memberé [the member banks] is on themselves.
Each has agreed not to compete with the others in a manner which the consortium considers
harmful to its combined interests.” 1d. (emphasis added).

7. Defendants’ anticompetitive conduct began at least as early as 1991, with the
adoption of Visa’s exclusionary rule, Visa U.S.A. by-law 2.10(e). That rule singles out
American Express and Discover, providing for the automatic termination of any Visa bank
member that issues any cards of either of those competing networks in the United States.
Because Visa’s member banks have a strong financial interest in MasterCard (as well as Diners

Club, which is owned by a bank that is a member of both Visa and MasterCard, and J CB), Visa’s
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rule permits every Visa issuing bank also to issue cards on those networks. The Visa
exclusionary rule maintained the networks’ collective grip on bank card issuers and network
services for several years.

8. By the mid-1990s, however, American Express began to pursue card-issuing
relationships, both in the United States and abroad. Outside of the United States, where there
were no exclusionary rules to prevent competition, American Express successfully enlisted
numerous foreign bank issuers. Those banks have issued millions of American Express cards.

9. Meanwhile, in the United States, the banks’ interest in issuing American Express
cards was mounting. In May 1996, American Express’ CEO, Harvey Golub, sparked a flood of
interest from U.S. banks when, in a speech to the Credit Card Forum, he publicly invited those
banks to issue American Express cards and outlined for them the compelling business case for
American Express issuance. Immediately after that speech, a number of U.S. banks entered into
serious discussions with American Express about forming cérd-issuing relationships.

10. The associations and their member banks, including the Bank Defendants,
recognized this surge of competitive momentum from American Express aé a serious threat to
their profits and control over the network services market. They feared that American Express’
relationships with foreign bank issuers would quickly enhance American Express’
competitiveness throughout the world, and believed that American Express’ domestic overtures
would imminently result in card-issuing relationships with a number of U.S. banks. Internal
association documents warned that “bank partners could significantly increase [American
Express’] acceptanc\é and cards,” 163 F.Supp. 2d at 397, and threaten member banks’ profits.

11.  Inaswift and comprehensive response to this threat, Defendants conspired to

extend and reinforce their exclusionary rules in order to prevent American Express from



competing for bank partners and to ensure that banks did not compete with each other on the
basis of partnerships with American Express.

12.  First, Visa International acted to adopt a global exclusionary rule patterned after
Visa U.S.A. by-law 2.10(e), in order to stifle competition from American Express in Europe.
After European competition authorities quashed those plans, in June 1996, Visa International’s
Board delegated the authority to enact such restraints to Visa’s regional boards, including Visa
U.S.A,, thereby encouraging the adoption of such rules in foreign countries, communicating to
co-conspirators its support for Visa U.S.A.’s exclusionary rule, and signaling the intent of the
Visa and MasterCard member banks to complement Visa’s exclusionary rule with a parallel

MasterCard rule.

13. Just three weeks later, and less than two months after CEO Golub’s pivotal Credit
Card Forum speech, the colluding banks, including bank members of Visa, shut the door on
competition from American Express by causing MasterCard to adopt an exclusionary rule that is
| identical in purpose and effect to Visa’s rule. Just like Visa’s by-law 2.10(e), MasterCard’s
“Competitive Programs Policy” (or “CPP”) precludes any U.S. bank that issues MasterCard
cards from also issuing American Express cards, but permits such banks to issue Visa cards.

14. The colluding banks passed MasterCard’s CPP to protect and extend, for their
own financial benefit, the Visa and MasterCard networks’ stranglehold on the bank issuers of
credit and charge cards and on the network services market. For example, Defendant Chase’s
representative to the MasterCard Board, who voted for the exclusionary rule, was “absolutely
adamant” that the MasterCard rule was needed to protect both Visa and MasterCard, in which

Chase had virtually equal shares, and to “send a signal to the American Banking community.”



15.  Defendants’ collusion has had its intended effect of preventing American Express
from effectively competing with Visa and MasterCard for banks to issue its payment cards.
Despite American Express’ extensive efforts during the past decade, not a single U.S. bank,
including each of the Bank Defendants, was willing to issue American Express cards. Until this
year, American Express was not even able to sign as issuers any of the banks that expressed
interest in issuing American Express cards, including those that objected to MasterCard’s
exclusionary rule before agreeing to participate in the collusive bank boycott of American
Express.

16. By precluding American Express from competing for bank issuers, Defendants
have harmed competition and consumers, and have directly caused billions of dollars in losses to
American Express’ business and property. As the United States Court of Appeals for the Second
Circuit found, “competition has been seriously damaged” at the network services level by
Defendants” exclusionary rules, and “[t]he most persuasive evidence of harm to competition is
the total exclusion of American Express and Discover from a segment of the market for network
services.” 344 F.3d at 240. Among other things, Defendants’ conspiracy has deprived American
Express of the substantial profits that it would have earned from providing authorization,
clearance, and settlement services (“network services™) for purchases made on bank-issued
American Express cards. The resulting injury to American Express is precisely the type the
antitrust laws are intended to prevent.

17. Accordingly, Plaintiff American Express brings this action for treble damages and
injunctive relief under Sections 4 and 15 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 15, 26) for

Defendants’ violations of Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 1, 2).



II. THE PARTIES

A. Plaintiff

18.  Plamtiff American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. (“TRS”) is a
corporation organized under the laws of the State of New York, with its principal place of
business in New York, New York. TRS issues general purpose cards and, through its division
American Express Global Network Services, operates the American Express general purpose
card network and develops and maintains relationships with third-party banks and other financial
institutions to issue cards that are accepted on the American Express general purpose

card network.

19.  TRS is a wholly owned subsidiary of American Express Company. American
Express Company is a corporation organized under the laws of the State of New York with its
principal place of business in New York, New York. Plaintiff TRS and American Express

Company are referred to collectively herein as “American Express.”

20.  American Express issues credit and charge cards with its own brand name and
provides general purpose card network services for U.S. credit and charge card transactions.
Outside the United States, American Express also issues credit and charge cards with its own
brand name and provides general purpose card network services for credit and charge card
transactions through contractual arrangements with bank issuers of American Express general |
purpose cards. The conspiracies alleged herein have prevented American Express from entering
similar arrangements with bank issuers in the United States.

21.  Since at least the mid-1990s, American Express has been the principal competitor

-to the Visa and MasterCard networks in the provision of general purpose card network services

for U.S. credit and charge card transactions.



B. Defendants

Association Defendants

22.  Defendants Visa U.S.A. (“Visa U.S.A.”) and Visa International Service
Association (“Visa International”) are associations of independent banks and financial
institutions and are structured as membership corporations.

23. Defendants Visa U.S.A. and Visa International are organized under the laws of
the State of Delaware, and each has its principal place of business in Foster City, California.

24.  Although Visa International has delegated certain authority to regional boards,
including the Board of Directors of Visa U.S.A., Visa International retains ultimate authority
over the policies and practices of Visa U.S.A., even for matters solely within the United States.
Visa International has the ultimate authority to preempt or regulate application of Visa U.S.A.
by-law 2.10(e).

25. Visa U.S.A., Visa International, and all of their respective predecessbrs and
subsidiaries are referred to collectively herein as “Visa.”

26. Defendant MasterCard Incorporated Was formed as a private stock corporation in
June 2002. MasterCard Incorporated is organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, and
has its principal place of business in Purchase, New York. MasterCard Incorporated was formed
through a process by which Defendant MasterCard International Incorporated (“MasterCard
International”) converted from a membership association to a private stock corporation.

27.  Before that conversion, MasterCard International was structured as a membership

-corporation and had operated as an association of independent banks and other entities. Through

the conversion, MasterCard International’s principal members received shares in MasterCard



Incorporated, a new holding company, and a membership interest in MasterCard International,
MasterCard Incorporated’s principal operating subsidiary.

28.  MasterCard Incorporated, MasterCard International, and all of their respective
predecessors and subsidiaries are referred to collectively herein as “MasterCard.”

29.  Visa and Mastercard are both “consortiums of competitors” consisting of
thousands of banks that are members of both associations, “own[ ] and effectively operate[ ]”

. both associations, “set ihe policies of the [associations],” 344 F.3d at 242, and “agree to abide by

their association’s by-laws and other regulations,” id. at 235.

Bank Defendants

30. Defendants Chase Manhattan Bank USA, N.A., a New York bank with its
principal place of business in New York, New York; Bank One, Delaware, N.A., a national
banking association with its principal place of business in Chicago, Illinois; and Bank One
Corporation, a corporation organized under Delaware law with its principal place of business in
Chicago, Illinois, are all wholly owned subsidiaries of Defendant JPMorgan Chase & Co., a
corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware with its principal place of business
in New York, New York. Defendants Bank One, Delaware, N.A., Bank One Corporation, Chase
Manhattan Bank USA, N.A., and JPMorgan Chase & Co. are referred to collectively herein as
“Chase.”

31.  Chase is a member of both Visa and MasterCard. Chase was a member of the
Visa U.S.A. Board of Directors in 1991 when Visa U.S.A. adopted its exclusionary rule, by-law

2.10(e), and was a member of the MasterCard Board of Directors in 1996 when MasterCard

adopted its exclusionary rule, the CPP.
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32. Chase is the successor-in-interest to Chemical Bank/Manufacturers Hanover,
which was also a member of the Visa U.S.A. Board of Directors in 1991 when Visa adopted by-
law 2.10(e). Chase is also a successor-in-interest to First Chicago, which was a member of the
Visa U.S.A. Board of Directors in 1991 when Visa U.S.A. adopted its exclusionary rule, by-law
2.10(e).

33.  Chase has agreed to abide by, has abided by, and has taken actions to adopt and/or
extend Visa by-law 2.10(e) and MasterCard’s CPP.

34.  Defendants Bank of America, N.A., a national banking association with its
principal place of business in Charlotte, North Carolina; Fleet National Bank, a national bank
v-vith its principal place of business in Providence, Rhode Island; and Fleet Bank (RI), N.A., a
national bank with its principal place of business in Providence, Rhode Island are wholly owned
subsidiaries of Defendant Bank of America Corporation, a corporation organized under the laws
of the State of Delaware with its principal place of business in Charlotte, North Carolina.
Defendants Fleet National Bank, Fleet Bank (RI), N.A., Bank of America, N.A,, and Bank of
America Corporation are referred to collectively herein as “Bank of America.”

35.  Bank of America is a member of both Visa and MasterCard. Bank of America
was a member of the Visa U.S.A. Board of Directors in 1991 when Visa U.S.A. adopted its
exclusionary rule, by-law 2.10(e), and was a member of the Visa International Board of
Directors in 1996 when Visa International voted for a delegation of authority to regional Visa
boards to enact réstraints patterned after by-law 2.10(e).

36.  Bank of America is the successor-in-interest to Boatmen’s Bancshares.
Boatmen’s Bancshares was a member of the MasterCard Board of Directors in 1996 when

MasterCard adopted its exclusionary rule, the CPP. Bank of America is also the successor-in-
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